

GCA can occur in people of colour: an international, multicentre perspective.

Tiara Gill, Michael Putman, Sebastian E. Sattui, Shahir Hamdulay, Richard Conway, David F. L. Liew, Aman Sharma, John H. Stone, Sarah L. Mackie, Puja Mehta[†]

[†]Corresponding author: Dr Puja Mehta, Centre for Inflammation and Tissue Repair, UCL Respiratory, Rayne 9 Building, University College London, London WC1E 6JF, U.K. Orcid ID 0000-0001-9459-9306 puja.mehta@ucl.ac.uk

Affiliations:

Department of Rheumatology, London Northwest Hospitals NHS Trust, London, U.K. Tiara Gill (MD)

Department of Rheumatology, Medical College of Wisconsin, U.S.A. Michael Putman (MD)

Division of Rheumatology and Clinical Immunology, Department of Medicine, University of Pittsburgh, U.S.A. Sebastian E. Sattui (MD)

Department of Rheumatology, London Northwest Hospitals NHS Trust, London, U.K. Shahir Hamdulay (PhD)

Department of Clinical Medicine, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland and Department of Rheumatology, St. James's Hospital, Dublin, Ireland. Richard Conway (PhD)

Department of Rheumatology and Department of Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics, Austin Health, Melbourne, Australia and Department of Medicine, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia David Liew (FRACP)

Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology Wing, Department of Internal Medicine, PGIMER, Chandigarh, India Aman Sharma (MD)

Massachusetts General Hospital Rheumatology Unit, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, U.S.A. John H. Stone (PhD)

Chapel Allerton Hospital, Leeds, Leeds Institute of Rheumatic and Musculoskeletal Medicine, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK, Leeds Biomedical Research Centre, Leeds Teaching Hospitals NHS Trust, Leeds, UK Sarah Mackie (PhD)

Centre for Inflammation and Tissue Repair, UCL Respiratory, Division of Medicine, University College London, London, U.K. and Department of Rheumatology, University College London Hospital NHS Trust, London, U.K. Puja Mehta (MD)

Article type: Comment

Words: 760/800 max

References: 11/10

Supplementary Tables: 1 with 10 references

Deleted: 2

Keywords: giant cell arteritis (GCA), temporal arteritis, ethnicity, race

Ethics Declarations: nil

Disclosures:

MP receives research funding from Abbvie and AstraZeneca and consulting fees from Novartis. He is supported by a Rheumatology Research Foundation Scientist Development Grant. SES has received research funding from AstraZeneca, provided consulting to Sanofi (unpaid); he is supported by a Rheumatology Research Foundation RISE Pilot Award and the Bristol Myers Squibb Foundation Winn Career Development Award. RC has received speakers fees from Janssen, Roche, Sanofi, Abbvie, Galapagos, Fresenius Kabi, and Viatrix; funding for clinical trials from Abbvie; Grant/Research Support from Janssen, Celltrion, and Nordic Pharma. PM is a Medical Research Council (MRC)-GlaxoSmithKline EMINENT clinical training fellow with project funding outside of the submitted work; PM reports consultancy fees from SOBI, Abbvie, EUSA Pharma, Boehringer Ingelheim, UCB and Lilly outside of the submitted work. PM receives co-funding by the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) University College London Hospitals (UCLH) Biomedical Research Centre. All other authors have no disclosures.

Giant cell arteritis (GCA) is the most common form of systemic vasculitis in individuals aged 50 years or older. GCA is considered a medical emergency. Urgent diagnosis and initiation of treatment are critical to prevent devastating potential sequelae of permanent visual loss and vascular complications. GCA may present with non-specific symptoms and whilst fast-track investigative pathways may improve patient outcomes, cognitive biases may confound patient selection and interpretation of results, especially where there is diagnostic ambiguity^{1,2}. Commonly-heard heuristics in teaching include “GCA is rare in ethnic minorities”, which in our experience often extends to “GCA only occurs in white people”. Given the importance of pre-test probability in diagnosis, even with modern imaging tests, such myths can have devastating consequences for [people of colour](#),

Deleted: non white populations

Epidemiological studies consistently demonstrate the highest incidence of GCA in Northern European populations³. Genetics are predictors of disease incidence and genetic traits tend to cluster geographically. Whilst ethnicity-related differences can be a useful prompt, over-simplification can lead to premature diagnostic closure and false attribution of the significance of race to biological causative mechanisms. [Although it is widely accepted that GCA has variable global incidence, skin colour should not be used as a surrogate marker to define populations.](#) It has been proposed that race is a socio-political construct, not a ‘natural’ biological variable. Defining populations on arbitrary features, such as skin pigmentation without genetic or phenotypic uniformity, promotes societal and institutional racism and may drive inequity^{4,5}. Although the

Formatted: Font Alignment: Baseline, Pattern: Clear (White)

Deleted: Although it is widely accepted that GCA has variable global incidence, skin colour should not be used as a surrogate marker to define populations.

recording and reporting of ethnicity currently confers limited meaning, we acknowledge that these data are still important and may have potential future research implications.

Despite sufficient evidence that GCA can occur in people of colour, there is resistance to dismiss the popular contrary dogma. In a seminal study of 586 patients who underwent temporal artery biopsy, population-adjusted age- and sex-standardized incidence rates per 100,000 patients were 3.1 for black patients and 3.6 for white patients, suggesting near parity⁶. Our literature review (table 1) demonstrates that large observational datasets corroborate this finding, including recent case series. Furthermore, the true incidence of GCA among non-white groups is likely under-reported in currently available real-world data for the following reasons. Firstly, inclusion in epidemiological research is subject to ascertainment bias and varies greatly by geography, with most vasculitis registries recruiting patients in affluent, resource-rich, predominantly white regions. [The collection of ethnic and racial data in some countries \(such as Germany, France, Sweden, Denmark\) is also legally prohibited to avoid potential discriminatory practice⁷](#). Secondly, despite initiatives promoting patient and public involvement in healthcare access, policy and research, minority ethnic participation and recruitment is suboptimal⁸. To tackle this, it is imperative to examine and dismantle structural, language and cultural barriers and address historical mistrust. [Finally](#), ethnic group classification is problematic and difficult to establish on self-reported categories. Even the 'white' category is heterogeneous and may not originate from North Europe, as exemplified by a Brazilian cohort study of GCA patients where the 'white' group included people of Portuguese, Italian and Spanish descent⁹.

Our understanding of the aetiopathogenesis of GCA is evolving. It is difficult to unravel the true contribution of genetic and environmental factors, such as seasonality and infective precipitants. The north-south gradient of incidence of GCA (increased at higher latitudes) observed in European studies³ follows a similar pattern to population prevalence of the main genetic risk factor, HLA-DRB1*04¹⁰ but this is far from an actionable understanding of genetic predisposition in GCA. The role of other genetic polymorphisms in explaining geographic differences is yet to be defined. Although contemporary genetic ancestry tests are widely available, their reliability and clinical relevance is unclear.

Deleted:
Deleted: non white ancestry s

Deleted: ⁷
Deleted: Thirdly,

Deleted: '

Deleted: ⁸
Deleted: Finally, the collection of 'diversity data' n some countries (such as Germany, France, Bulgaria) is legally prohibited to avoid potentially discriminatory practice⁹.

Deleted: ,⁹

Timely recognition and management of GCA is paramount and misdiagnosis can be devastating. The popular rhetoric that GCA is only a disease of North European ancestry is not supported by observational data. There is high probability that such data are under-reporting the incidence of GCA among people of colour. We propose that race should not influence diagnostic decision-making in GCA. Risk assessment should focus on clinical presentation, rather than ethnic profiling. Rheumatologists have a responsibility to remain open and mindful to avoid inadvertently further reinforcing inequity. Careful communication within and cross-speciality, and with patients (including appropriate patient information resources) is critical to avoid racial stereotyping and contributing to worse health outcomes for people of colour. The research agenda should be relevant and representative for all patients. To achieve this will require commitment, collaboration and funding. Re-examining cognitive biases to align with inclusion and diversity principles will reduce health care inequalities and improve outcomes for all patient populations, including people of colour¹¹.

Deleted: 0

Author contributions

TG and PM drafted the manuscript. AS, SH, MP contributed real-world data. All authors contributed to discussions, revisions and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References:

1. Mehta P, Sattui SE, van der Geest KSM, Brouwer E, Conway R, Putman MS, Robinson PC, Mackie SL. Giant Cell Arteritis and COVID-19: Similarities and Discriminators. A Systematic Literature Review. *J Rheumatol*. 2021 Jul;48(7):1053-1059. doi: 10.3899/jrheum.200766. Epub 2020 Oct 15. PMID: 33060304.
2. Victor Yang, Christopher McMaster, Claire E Owen, Jessica L Y Leung, Bonnia Liu, Russell R C Buchanan, David F L Liew. Better diagnostic tools needed for biopsy-negative giant cell arteritis, *The Lancet Rheumatology*, Volume 5, Issue 1, 2023, Pages e8-e10, ISSN 2665-9913, [https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913\(22\)00252-1](https://doi.org/10.1016/S2665-9913(22)00252-1).
3. Li KJ, Semenov D, Turk M, Pope J. A meta-analysis of the epidemiology of giant cell arteritis across time and space. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2021 Mar 11;23(1):82. doi: 10.1186/s13075-021-02450-w. PMID: 33706808; PMCID: PMC7948334.
4. Zewude R, Sharma M. Critical race theory in medicine. *CMAJ*. 2021 May 17;193(20):E739-E741. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.210178. PMID: 34001553; PMCID: PMC8177947.
5. Williams JN, Ford CL, Morse M, Feldman CH. Racial Disparities in Rheumatology Through the Lens of Critical Race Theory. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am*. 2020 Nov;46(4):605-612. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2020.07.001. PMID: 32981638.
6. Gruener AM, Poostchi A, Carey AR, Eberhart CG, Henderson AD, Chang JR, McCulley TJ. Association of Giant Cell Arteritis With Race. *JAMA Ophthalmol*. 2019 Oct 1;137(10):1175-1179. doi: 10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2019.2919. PMID: 31393529; PMCID: PMC6692689.

Deleted: ,

7. [Balestra C, Fleisher L. Diversity statistics in the OECD: How do OECD countries collect data on ethnic, racial and indigenous identity? OECD Statistics and Data Directorate. Nov 2018](#)

8. Ekezie W, Routen A, Denegri S, Khunti K. Patient and public involvement for ethnic minority research: an urgent need for improvement. *J R Soc Med.* 2021 Jul;114(7):347-350. doi: 10.1177/0141076821994274. Epub 2021 Feb 24. PMID: 33625873; PMCID: PMC8415812.

9. Souza AW, Okamoto KY, Abrantes F, Schau B, Bacchiega AB, Shinjo SK. Giant cell arteritis: a multicentre observational study in Brazil. *Clinics (Sao Paulo).* 2013;68(3):317-22. doi: 10.6061/clinics/2013(03)oa06. PMID: 23644850; PMCID: PMC3611879.

10. Mackie SL, Taylor JC, Haroon-Rashid L, Martin S, Dasgupta B, Gough A, Green M, Hordon L, Jarrett S, Pease CT, Barrett JH, Watts R, Morgan AW; UK GCA Consortium; UKRAG Consortium. Association of HLA-DRB1 amino acid residues with giant cell arteritis: genetic association study, meta-analysis and geo-epidemiological investigation. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2015 Jul 30;17(1):195. doi: 10.1186/s13075-015-0692-4. PMID: 26223536; PMCID: PMC4520081

11. Bell S, Falusi O, Lindo E. Elimination of race-based medicine: a call to action. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health.* 2022 Sep;6(9):597-598. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(22)00166-3. Epub 2022 Jun 30. PMID: 35779548.

Deleted: <#>Balestra C, Fleisher L. Diversity statistics in the OECD: How do OECD countries collect data on ethnic, racial and indigenous identity? OECD Statistics and Data Directorate. Nov 2018

Deleted: <#>

Deleted: <#>

Deleted: <#>11.

Deleted: ¶